

Special Town Meeting Report *Updates*

(Articles 7, 9, 11, 12, 13, and 14; Selectmen will make no motion under Article 10)

ARTICLE 7, FY2020 Conservation Commission Open Space Budget

Finance Committee, Board of Selectmen, and Conservation Commission support Article 7.

Revised motion, to remove the words “or any other sum” from what is being voted:

“Moved and seconded by the Conservation Commission that the Town vote to expend from the Oak Hill Cell Tower Fund (which fund is intended for use by the Conservation Commission for conservation lands purposes, pursuant to votes of the May 5, 1997 Annual Town Meeting, the September 28, 1998 Special Town Meeting, the May 6, 2002 Special Town Meeting, and the November 14, 2012 Special Town Meeting) the amount of \$18,500 to be used for projects under the direction and charge of the Conservation Commission or to take any other action in relation thereto.”

ARTICLE 9, Amendment to Home Rule Petition Authorized by May 6, 2019 Annual Town Meeting

Board of Selectmen and Board of Water Commissioners support Article 9.

Please note: The marked up version of the Home Rule Petition from the May 6, 2019 ATM is contained at the end of this report in an attachment (please see underline and ~~strikethrough~~ for the specific changes).

Motion: Moved and seconded by the Board of Selectmen that the Town amend the vote under Article 21 of the May 6, 2019 Annual Town Meeting authorizing the Board of Selectmen to petition the General Court for a special act authorizing establishment of the Littleton Common Smart Sewer District, by substituting a revised version of the petition assigning supervision and control of the sewer district to the Board of Water Commissioners; provided, however, that the General Court may make clerical or editorial changes of form only to the bill, unless the Board of Selectmen approve amendments to the bill before enactment by the General Court; and, provided further that the Board of Selectmen is hereby authorized to approve amendments which shall be within the scope of the general public objectives of the petition; said revised petition reads as follows:

An Act establishing the Littleton Common Smart Sewer District in the Town Of Littleton

SECTION 1. Notwithstanding any general or special law to the contrary, the town of Littleton is hereby authorized to lay out, construct, maintain and operate a system or systems of common sewers and drains in public or private ways for that part of its territory as it adjudges necessary for the public convenience or the public health with such connections and other works as may be required for a system or systems of sewerage and drainage, and sewage treatment and disposal. The resulting sewer district shall be called the Littleton common smart sewer district. The district shall be under the supervision and control of the board of water commissioners, who shall act as sewer commissioners of the town of Littleton and shall henceforth be titled the “board of commissioners.” The sewer system shall initially be laid out as depicted in the attached plan of the Littleton common smart sewer district and the properties that may be initially included within the district are described in the attached list which includes the assessor’s map and lot number, street address, owner of record as of February 28, 2019 and approximate acreage of same. The sewer system and district may be

expanded in the future by a vote of the board of commissioners and approval by town meeting; provided, however, that the process for including or excluding properties in the district shall conform to Sections 3 and 4, below. The district shall be organized, governed, and modified as set forth in this Act. All land and buildings on the properties included in the district shall be served by the town's Smart Sewer System, as well as all sewer pipelines, pump stations and treatment and disposal facilities included in the Littleton common smart sewer project. The treatment and disposal facilities and associated infrastructure may be located either inside or outside of the district. Project phasing will limit the timing of sewer service to a subset of the properties included in the district, to be determined by the town of Littleton based, in part, on the relative need for sewer service and elective residential and tax-exempt property owner decisions to opt in or out of the district.

SECTION 2. The board of commissioners, in their capacity as sewer commissioners, shall have all the powers and perform the duties of sewer commissioners as set forth in chapter 83 of the general laws, subject to the modifications stated herein. The board of commissioners shall have the authority to adopt rules and regulations for access to and use of the wastewater system, as well as for the establishment of sewer betterment assessments, sewer connection fees, and user fees and other charges which shall be paid by every person who may in the future be served by, or connects to the sewer system, as appropriate. Said fees shall be reasonably related to the capital and operational costs of the sewer system. Supervision of the operation of the Littleton common smart sewer district shall be the responsibility of the General Manager of the Littleton Water Department.

SECTION 3. Properties that are abutting a private or public way in which a common sewer will be laid may have the opportunity to connect to the sewer system and become part of the Littleton common smart sewer district, as determined by the board of commissioners in accordance with Section 5, below. All commercial and industrial properties that are given access to the sewer system shall be required to connect and become part of the district. Single and two-family residential properties and properties owned by a tax-exempt organization that are given access to the sewer system shall have the opportunity to permanently opt out of connecting to, or making use of, the sewer system. However, if a property owner opts out of the Littleton common smart sewer district, that property shall not be permitted to rejoin the district in the future without approval of the board of commissioners and town meeting. Sufficient time will be allowed for the owners of improved eligible properties to determine whether to opt out of the connection to, or use of, the Littleton common smart sewer district. The town of Littleton shall develop, adopt, and enforce policies and procedures to provide the option to opt out of the Littleton common smart sewer district. Such policies and procedures shall include, at a minimum, the following requirements that must be met before a property can opt out of the Littleton common smart sewer district:

(1) The property owner must demonstrate that the subject property is eligible to opt-out for one of the following reasons:

(a) The property has a functioning onsite wastewater treatment and disposal system as evidenced by a Title 5 Inspection Report that demonstrates (i) that the existing onsite wastewater treatment and disposal system is fully compliant with current Title 5 (310 CMR 15.00) requirements except for lot line setback requirements for septic tank and/or leaching

systems; and (ii) that the existing onsite wastewater treatment and disposal system is operating and in acceptable condition; or

(b) The property has a functioning onsite wastewater treatment and disposal system as evidenced by (i) documentation that demonstrates that the existing on-site wastewater treatment and disposal system or repair of same was installed after December 31, 2017 and (ii) that the existing onsite wastewater treatment and disposal system is operating and in acceptable condition; or

(c) The property is devoid of structures, has no on-site wastewater treatment and disposal system and is prevented from future development through a legally enforceable deed restriction on any such future development in perpetuity or has been previously deemed unbuildable by the Littleton building inspector, with or without access or connection to the sewer system, as demonstrated by documentation establishing these facts.

(2) A property owner's decision to opt out must be in writing and must acknowledge that the property owner understands that by opting out of the Littleton common smart sewer district, the property will not ever connect to, or make use of, the sewer system, except by permission of the board of commissioners and town meeting.

SECTION 4. Notwithstanding the provision of sections 1, 14, 15 of chapter 83 of the general laws to the contrary, the board of commissioners may establish policies and procedures addressing the assessment of sewer betterments to all properties that are located within the Littleton common smart sewer district.

SECTION 5. The board of commissioners shall have the sole discretion to determine which property owners shall be added to the Littleton common smart sewer district. The board of commissioners shall also have the sole discretion to determine the amount of wastewater treatment system capacity allocated to each user of the system. Applications for connection shall be reviewed by a representative of the board of health, a representative of the planning board, and the General Manager of the Littleton Water Department, or their designees, who shall present a recommendation to the board of commissioners regarding said application. In making said recommendation, the representatives and director, or designees, shall consider the overall existing use of the property as represented in the application, and, but for a change in use of the property, the economic benefit afforded by approval of the application, the amount of available wastewater treatment capacity, and such other factors as the representatives and director, or designees, shall deem appropriate, or as may be directed by the board of commissioners.

SECTION 6. Prior to or upon the start of construction of the sewer system, properties that have been given access to the sewer system and have not officially opted out of the Littleton common smart sewer district, shall be required by the board of commissioners, or other duly authorized officer having charge of the maintenance and repair of the sewer system, to connect such land to the sewer system within two years of the date that the sewer is “approved for use” and a “notice of sewer availability” has been issued by the board of commissioners or other duly authorized officer and received by the property owner. No property owner may postpone their connection to the sewer system later than this date unless

an application to postpone such a connection has been approved by the board of commissioners in accordance with section 7, below.

Such approved postponements shall delay connection to the public sewer but shall not entitle the property owner to defer any sewer betterment payment that is approved by the Town.

SECTION 7. Postponements for connection to the sewer system may be allowed in limited circumstances where all of the following have been satisfied: (a) the property is part of the Littleton common smart sewer district; (b) the property owner has submitted to the board of commissioners a signed and notarized application for a sewer connection postponement citing one or more of the following reasons: (i) the property owner has an existing on-site sewage treatment and disposal system operating and in acceptable condition, as demonstrated in a recent (within the previous 60 days) Title 5 Inspection Report, which shall be submitted with the application for sewer connection postponement; or (ii) the property has an existing on-site sewage treatment and disposal system that was installed after December 31, 2017 in compliance with all Title 5 requirements and required no variances, except for septic tanks and/or leaching facilities Lot line setback requirements, as demonstrated by documentation from the Littleton board of health or the Nashoba Associated Board of Health, that demonstrates that the date of installation and certification of the system or system repair meets the requirements set forth above, and states further that the system meets all such requirements. The board of commissioners shall develop policies and procedures within 180 days of approval of this Act, including procedures to apply for an application for sewer connection postponement and all additional requirements to permit such applications.

SECTION 8. The board of commissioners may enter into a payment deferral and recovery agreement on behalf of the town of Littleton with the owner of a property that meets the qualifications described herein and has been assessed a sewer betterment. In order to qualify for the deferral and recovery agreement, the property shall have an existing onsite sewage treatment system that is fully compliant with state regulations and meets the requirements established for deferrals enumerated in Section 3 of this petition related to the onsite sewage treatment system.

The deferral and recovery agreement shall:

- (1) provide the deferral period, which shall last no longer than ten years;
- (2) provide that the agreement shall terminate and the assessment shall be due before the agreed term if title to the property is conveyed, the Title 5 system is determined by the Littleton board of health to be a failed system, or the property is connected to the sewer system;
- (3) provide that the property owner shall pay interest annually upon the assessment from the time it was made; and
- (4) include the written approval of any joint owner or mortgagee on the property.

The deferral and recovery agreement shall be recorded in the registry of deeds and shall constitute a lien upon the property.

SECTION 9. Every decision by the board of commissioners, or duly authorized officer having charge of the sewer system, permitting or denying a connection to the sewer system, shall be made in writing. Any person aggrieved by such a decision may appeal said decision within 30 days of issuance pursuant to the provisions of Section 14 of chapter 30A of the General Laws.

SECTION 10. The board of commissioners may take by eminent domain pursuant to chapter 79 or chapter 80A of the general laws, or acquire by lease, purchase or otherwise, any lands, sewer rights, and public or private rights of way or easements, located within or outside of the district and necessary for accomplishing any purpose mentioned in this Act, and may construct such main drains and sewers under or over any bridge, railroad, railway, boulevard or other public or private way, or within the location of any railroad, and may enter upon and dig up any private land, public or private way, or railroad location for the purpose of laying such drains and sewers and of maintaining and repairing the same, and may do any other thing proper or necessary for the purposes of this Act; provided however, that they shall not enter upon or construct any drain or sewer within the location of any railroad corporation except at such time and in such manner as they may agree upon with such corporation, or, in the case of failure to agree, as may be approved by the department of public utilities, and that the manner in which all things done upon any way shall be subject to the applicable bylaws and regulations of the town of Littleton. Further, the board of commissioners or its employees or agents acting on behalf of the town of Littleton may enter upon any land for the purpose of making surveys, test wells or test pits and borings and may take or otherwise acquire the right to occupy temporarily any lands necessary for the construction of any work or for any other purpose authorized by this Act, provided notice is given and property is restored.

SECTION 11. All land taken or acquired under this act shall be managed, improved and controlled by the board of commissioners in a manner as they shall consider as in the best interest of Town in the operation of the sewer system.

SECTION 12. The board of commissioners shall have the benefit, without further acceptance by Littleton town meeting, of the provisions of section 13B of chapter 80 of the general laws and sections 16A to 16E, inclusive, and section 16G of chapter 83 of the general laws. Applications for abatements in accordance with said section 16E of chapter 83 shall be made to the board of commissioners within 30 days after the date of the demand.

SECTION 13. In carrying out the provisions of this Act, the town of Littleton shall not discriminate against any person on the grounds of race, color, marital status, physical disability, age, sex, sexual orientation, religion, ancestry or nation origin in any manner prohibited by the laws of the United States, the commonwealth or the town of Littleton.

SECTION 14. Insofar as the provisions of this act are inconsistent with the provisions of any general or special law, administrative order, or regulation, or any by-law, rule, regulation or code of the town, other than rules and regulations or orders of the board of health or by-laws of the town which require homes or facilities to be connected to the Littleton common smart sewer district sewer system involuntarily, the provisions of this act shall be controlling.

SECTION 15. This act shall take effect upon its passage.

ARTICLE 11, Property Acquisition for the Smart Sewer Project

Finance Committee, Board of Selectmen, Board of Water Commissioners, and Master Plan Implementation Committee support Article 11.

Motion: Moved and seconded by the Board of Selectmen that the Town authorizes the Board of Selectmen to select, pursuant to Massachusetts procurement laws and in consultation with the Board of Water Commissioners, a parcel or parcels of land within the Town of Littleton for the purpose of constructing a treatment and disposal facility (and associated infrastructure) for the Littleton Common Smart Sewer Project, and to purchase the fee interest in such parcel or parcels, on such terms and conditions as the Selectmen may determine, with the total purchase price not to exceed \$1,600,000; and that the Town authorizes the Board of Selectmen to enter into all agreements and execute any and all instruments as may be necessary on behalf of the Town of Littleton to effect said purchase; and that the Town appropriates the sum of \$1,650,000 to pay the costs of this purchase, including the payment of all costs incidental and related thereto; and that, to meet this appropriation, the Treasurer, with the approval of the Selectmen, is authorized to borrow said amount under and pursuant to M.G.L. c. 44, §7(1), or pursuant to any other enabling authority, and to issue bonds or notes of the Town therefor. Any premium received upon the sale of any bonds or notes approved by this vote, less any such premium applied to the payment of the costs of issuance of such bonds or notes, may be applied to the payment of costs approved by this vote in accordance with M.G.L. c. 44, §20, thereby reducing the amount authorized to be borrowed to pay such costs by a like amount.

ARTICLE 12, Appropriation, Borrowing, and Home Rule Petition for Water Treatment Facility

Finance Committee, Board of Selectmen, Board of Water Commissioners and Master Plan Implementation Committee support Article 12.

Please note: The motion to be made under Article 12 includes only two of the four parcels referenced in the warrant article. The Water Department determined that one of the two parcels listed in the article to be designated for use for the water treatment facility (parcel U41-44-0) is not needed for that facility, and that parcel has been omitted from the motion. Therefore, parcel U-41-35-0, which was proposed to be placed under Article 97 protection as a substitute for parcel U41-44-0, has also been omitted.

The motion includes the text of the home rule petition to be submitted to the Legislature regarding the remaining two parcels referenced in the warrant article. The proposed special act would designate parcel U41-38-0 (2.5 acres) for use for the water treatment facility and would place the former Highway Department property at 74 Whitcomb Ave. (parcel U40-15-0, 2.75 acres) under Article 97 protection.

Motion: Moved and seconded by the Board of Water Commissioners:

- (1) That the Town appropriates \$6,000,000 to pay costs of installing water department facilities and infrastructure to reduce concentrations of per- and poly-fluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) at any location deemed by the Board of Water Commissioners to be in the best interests of the Town of Littleton and for the study, analysis, and design of a permanent water treatment facility capable of lowering iron, manganese, PFAS, and/or any other regulated substance below their respective Massachusetts drinking water standards, including the payment of all costs incidental and related thereto, and that to meet this appropriation, the

Treasurer, with the approval of the Board of Selectmen, is authorized to borrow said amount under and pursuant to M.G.L. c. 44, §7(1) and (7) or pursuant to any other enabling authority, and to issue bonds or notes of the Town therefor, and that in accordance with M.G.L. c. 44, §20, the premium received by the Town upon the sale of any bonds or notes authorized by this vote, less any such premium applied to the payment of the costs of issuance of such bonds or notes, may be applied to pay project costs and the amount authorized to be borrowed pursuant to this vote shall be reduced by the amount of any such premium so applied; and that the parcel of land located off Whitcomb Avenue and shown as Assessor's Map U41, Parcel 38-0, said lot being a portion of the property described in a deed recorded in the Middlesex South Registry of Deeds in Book 19902, Page 089, is designated as land required for the construction of said water treatment facilities and infrastructure; and

(2) That the Board of Selectmen is authorized to petition the General Court, on behalf of the Town, for passage of a special law to allow the Town to designate the parcel of land located on Whitcomb Avenue and shown as Assessor's Map U41, Parcel 38-0, as water department land to be used for the construction of a water treatment facility, said lot being a portion of the property described in a deed recorded in the Middlesex South Registry of Deeds in Book 19902, Page 089, and to remove any Article 97 designation from the lot, if such designation exists, and to place Article 97 protections on the parcel known as 74 Whitcomb Avenue and shown as Assessor's Map U40, Parcel 15-0 (to remain in the custody of the Board of Water Commissioners for water supply protection purposes); provided, however, that the General Court may make clerical or editorial changes of form only to the bill, unless the Board of Selectmen approve amendments to the bill before enactment by the General Court; and provided further that the Board of Selectmen is hereby authorized to approve amendments which shall be within the general public objectives of this petition, said petition reads as follows:

An Act authorizing the town of Littleton to use certain land for construction of a water treatment facility without Article 97 restrictions on such use.

SECTION 1. Notwithstanding any general or special law to the contrary, the Town of Littleton Board of Water Commissioners is hereby authorized to use a parcel of land shown on the Littleton Assessors' Map as parcel U41-38-0, comprising approximately 2.5 acres and being a portion of the property described in a deed recorded in the Middlesex South Registry of Deeds in Book 19902, Page 89, for the construction of a water treatment facility and associated infrastructure, without any restrictions imposed on such use by Article 97 of the Amendments to the Massachusetts Constitution, in exchange for subjecting the following parcel of land in Littleton to the protections of said Article 97, to be used for water supply protection purposes: a parcel known as 74 Whitcomb Avenue, shown on the Littleton Assessors' Map as parcel U40-15-0, comprising approximately 2.75 acres.

SECTION 2. The authorization contained in Section 1 shall be contingent on the recording of a deed restriction on parcel U40-15-0 placing it under the protection of Article 97 of the Amendments to the Massachusetts Constitution, to be preserved in a natural condition and used for water supply protection purposes.

SECTION 3. This act shall take effect upon its passage.

ARTICLE 13, Library Building Project Construction - Borrowing

Board of Library Trustees, *Board of Selectmen, and Master Plan Implementation Committee* support Article 13. *Finance Committee will make a recommendation on Town Meeting floor.*

Motion: Moved and seconded by the Library Trustees that the Town appropriates \$13,100,000 to be expended under the direction of the Permanent Municipal Building Committee for architectural, engineering, project management, construction management (pursuant to M.G.L. c. 149A) or general contracting (pursuant to M.G.L. c. 149, 44A-44J, et seq.) as determined by the Permanent Municipal Building Committee, and/or other services necessary for the design, construction, equipping, and furnishing of a new Reuben Hoar Library (the “Project”), including the payment of all other costs incidental and related thereto, and that to meet this appropriation, the Treasurer, with the approval of the Selectmen, is authorized to borrow said amount under and pursuant to M.G.L. c. 44, §7(1), or pursuant to any other enabling authority, and to issue bonds or notes of the Town therefor. The total amount authorized to be borrowed by this vote shall be reduced by: (i) any and all grants received by the Town from the Massachusetts Board of Library Commissioners for this Project; and (ii) the amount of any and all gifts, grants and donations received by the Town for this Project, as long as said grants, gifts and donations are received prior to the issuance of any bonds or notes. Any premium received upon the sale of any bonds or notes approved by this vote, less any such premium applied to the payment of the costs of issuance of such bonds or notes, may be applied to the payment of costs approved by this vote in accordance with M.G.L. c. 44, §20, thereby reducing the amount authorized to be borrowed to pay such costs by a like amount. While not a legal condition to the borrowing of funds authorized by this vote, it is the expectation of this Town Meeting that a Proposition 2½ debt exclusion question, so-called, relating to this project will be placed before the voters of the Town.

ARTICLE 14, Classification & Compensation Study

Motion: Moved and seconded by the Board of Selectmen that the Town raise and appropriate \$40,000 to be expended at the direction of the Board of Selectmen for a Classification & Compensation Study.

Attachment

Special Town Meeting Report Updates

(Article 9)

AN ACT ESTABLISHING THE LITTLETON COMMON SMART SEWER DISTRICT IN THE TOWN OF LITTLETON

SECTION 1. Notwithstanding any general or special law to the contrary, the town of Littleton is hereby authorized to lay out, construct, maintain and operate a system or systems of common sewers and drains in public or private ways for that part of its territory as it adjudges necessary for the public convenience or the public health with such connections and other works as may be required for a system or systems of sewerage and drainage, and sewage treatment and disposal. The resulting sewer district shall be called the Littleton common smart sewer district. The district shall be under the supervision and control of the board of ~~selectmenwater commissioners~~, who shall act as sewer commissioners of the town of Littleton-~~and shall henceforth be titled the "board of commissioners."~~ The sewer system shall initially be laid out as depicted in the attached plan of the Littleton common smart sewer district and the properties that may be initially included within the district are described in the attached list which includes the assessor's map and lot number, street address, owner of record as of February 28, 2019 and approximate acreage of same. The sewer system and district may be expanded in the future by a vote of the board of ~~selectmencommissioners~~ and approval by town meeting; provided, however, that the process for including or excluding properties in the district shall conform to Sections 3 and 4, below. The district shall be organized, governed, and modified as set forth in this Act. -All land and buildings on the properties included in the district shall be served by the town's ~~Community Water and Energy Resource Center~~Smart Sewer System, as well as all sewer pipelines, pump stations and treatment and disposal facilities included in the Littleton common smart sewer project. ~~The treatment and disposal facilities and associated infrastructure may be located either inside or outside of the district. Project phasing will limit the timing of sewer service to a subset of the properties included in the district, to be determined by the town of Littleton based, in part, on the relative need for sewer service and elective residential and tax-exempt property owner decisions to opt in or out of the district.~~

SECTION 2. The board of ~~selectmencommissioners~~, in their capacity as sewer commissioners, shall have all the powers and perform the duties of sewer commissioners as set forth in ~~section 4 of chapter 40N~~83 of the general laws-, ~~subject to the modifications stated herein~~. The board of ~~selectmencommissioners~~ shall have the authority to adopt rules and regulations for access to and use of the wastewater system, as well as for the establishment of sewer betterment assessments, sewer connection fees, and user fees and other charges which shall be paid by every person who may in the future be served by, or connects to the sewer system, as appropriate. Said fees shall be reasonably related to the capital and operational costs of the sewer system. Supervision of the operation of the Littleton common smart sewer district shall be the responsibility of the ~~director~~General Manager of the ~~town of~~ Littleton ~~department of~~ public works, pursuant to ~~section 69 of chapter 41 of the general laws.~~ Water Department.

SECTION 3. Properties that are abutting a private or public way in which a common sewer will be laid may have the opportunity to connect to the sewer system and become part of the Littleton common smart sewer district, as determined by the board of ~~selectmencommissioners~~ in accordance with Section 5, below. All commercial and industrial properties that are given

access to the sewer system shall be required to connect and become part of the district. Single and two-family residential properties and properties owned by a tax-exempt organization that are given access to the sewer system shall have the opportunity to permanently opt out of connecting to, or making use of, the sewer system. However, if a property owner opts out of the Littleton common smart sewer district, that property shall not be permitted to rejoin the district in the future without approval of the board of ~~selectmen~~commissioners and town meeting. Sufficient time will be allowed for the owners of improved eligible properties to determine whether to opt out of the connection to, or use of, the Littleton common smart sewer district. The town of Littleton shall develop, adopt, and enforce policies and procedures to provide the option to opt out of the Littleton common smart sewer district. Such policies and procedures shall include, at a minimum, the following requirements that must be met before a property can opt out of the Littleton common smart sewer district:

(1) The property owner must demonstrate that the subject property is eligible to opt-out for one of the following reasons:

- (a) The property has a functioning onsite wastewater treatment and disposal system as evidenced by a Title 5 Inspection Report that demonstrates (i) that the existing onsite wastewater treatment and disposal system is fully compliant with current Title 5 (310 CMR 15.00) requirements except for lot line setback requirements for septic tank and/or leaching systems; and (ii) that the existing onsite wastewater treatment and disposal system is operating and in acceptable condition; or
- (b) The property has a functioning onsite wastewater treatment and disposal system as evidenced by (i) documentation that demonstrates that the existing on-site wastewater treatment and disposal system or repair of same was installed after December 31, 2017 and (ii) that the existing onsite wastewater treatment and disposal system is operating and in acceptable condition; or
- (c) The property is devoid of structures, has no on-site wastewater treatment and disposal system and is prevented from future development through a legally enforceable deed restriction on any such future development in perpetuity or has been previously deemed unbuildable by the Littleton building inspector, with or without access or connection to the sewer system, as demonstrated by documentation establishing these facts.

(2) A property owner's decision to opt out must be in writing and must acknowledge that the property owner understands that by opting out of the Littleton common smart sewer district, the property will not ever connect to, or make use of, the sewer system-, except by permission of the board of commissioners and town meeting.

SECTION 4. Notwithstanding the provision of sections 1, 14, 15 of chapter 83 of the general laws to the contrary, the board of ~~selectmen~~commissioners may establish policies and procedures addressing the assessment of sewer betterments to all properties that are located within the Littleton common smart sewer district.

SECTION 5. The board of ~~selectmencommissioners~~ shall have the sole discretion to determine which property owners shall be added to the Littleton common smart sewer district, ~~subject to the approval of the Littleton town meeting.~~ The board of ~~selectmencommissioners~~ shall also have the sole discretion to determine the amount of wastewater treatment system capacity allocated to each user of the system. Applications for connection shall be reviewed by a representative of the board of health, a representative of the planning board, and the ~~directorGeneral Manager~~ of the ~~department of public works~~ Littleton Water Department, or their designees, who shall present a recommendation to the board of ~~selectmencommissioners~~ regarding said application. In making said recommendation, the representatives and director, or designees, shall consider the overall existing use of the property as represented in the application, and, but for a change in use of the property, the economic benefit afforded by approval of the application, the amount of available wastewater treatment capacity, and such other factors as the representatives and director, or designees, shall deem appropriate, or as may be directed by the board of ~~selectmencommissioners~~.

SECTION 6. Prior to or upon the start of construction of the sewer system, properties that have been given access to the sewer system and have not officially opted out of the Littleton common smart sewer district, shall be required by the board of ~~selectmencommissioners~~, or other duly authorized officer having charge of the maintenance and repair of the sewer system, to connect such land to the sewer system within two years of the date that the sewer is "approved for use" and a "notice of sewer availability" has been issued by the board of ~~selectmencommissioners~~ or other duly authorized officer and received by the property owner. No property owner may postpone their connection to the sewer system later than this date unless an application to postpone such a connection has been approved by the board of ~~selectmencommissioners~~ in accordance with section 7, below.

Such approved postponements shall delay connection to the public sewer but shall not entitle the property owner to defer any sewer betterment payment that is approved by the Town.

SECTION 7. Postponements for connection to the sewer system may be allowed in limited circumstances where all of the following -have been satisfied: (a) the property is part of the Littleton common smart sewer district; (b) the property owner has submitted to the board of ~~selectmencommissioners~~ a signed and notarized application for a sewer connection postponement citing one or more of the following reasons: (i) the property owner has an existing on-site sewage treatment and disposal system operating and in acceptable condition, as demonstrated in a recent (within the previous 60 days) Title 5 Inspection Report, which shall be submitted with the application for sewer connection postponement; or (ii) the property has an existing on-site sewage treatment and disposal system that was installed after December 31, 2017 in compliance with all Title 5 requirements and required no variances, except for septic tanks and/or leaching facilities Lot line setback requirements, as demonstrated by documentation from the Littleton board of health or the Nashoba Associated Board of Health, that demonstrates that the date of installation and certification of the system or system repair meets the requirements set forth above, and states further that the system meets all such requirements. The board of ~~selectmencommissioners~~ shall develop policies and procedures

within 180 days of approval of this Act, including procedures to apply for an application for sewer connection postponement and all additional requirements to permit such applications.

SECTION 8. The board of ~~selectmen~~commissioners may enter into a payment deferral and recovery agreement on behalf of the town of Littleton with the owner of a property that meets the qualifications described herein and has been assessed a sewer betterment. In order to qualify for the deferral and recovery agreement, the property shall have an existing onsite sewage treatment system that is fully compliant with state regulations and meets the requirements established for deferrals enumerated in Section 3 of this petition related to the onsite sewage treatment system.

The deferral and recovery agreement shall:

- (1) provide the deferral period, which shall last no longer than ten years;
- (2) provide that the agreement shall terminate and the assessment shall be due before the agreed term if title to the property is conveyed, the Title 5 system is determined by the Littleton board of health to be a failed system, or the property is connected to the sewer system;
- (3) provide that the property owner shall pay interest annually upon the assessment from the time it was made; and
- (4) include the written approval of any joint owner or mortgagee on the property.

The deferral and recovery agreement shall be recorded in the registry of deeds and shall constitute a lien upon the property.

SECTION 9. Every decision by the board of ~~selectmen~~commissioners, or duly authorized officer having charge of the sewer system, permitting or denying a connection to the sewer system, shall be made in writing. Any person aggrieved by such a decision may appeal said decision within 30 days of issuance pursuant to the provisions of Section 14 of chapter 30A of the General Laws.

SECTION 10. The board of ~~selectmen~~commissioners may take by eminent domain pursuant to chapter 79 or chapter 80A of the general laws, or acquire by lease, purchase or otherwise, any lands, sewer rights, and public or private rights of way or easements, located within or outside of the district and necessary for accomplishing any purpose mentioned in this Act, and may construct such main drains and sewers under or over any bridge, railroad, railway, boulevard or other public or private way, or within the location of any railroad, and may enter upon and dig up any private land, public or private way, or railroad location for the purpose of laying such drains and sewers and of maintaining and repairing the same, and may do any other thing proper or necessary for the purposes of this Act; provided however, that they shall not enter upon or construct any drain or sewer within the location of any railroad corporation except at

such time and in such manner as they may agree upon with such corporation, or, in the case of failure to agree, as may be approved by the department of public utilities, and that the manner in which all things done upon any way shall be subject to the applicable bylaws and regulations of the town of Littleton. -Further, the board of ~~selectmencommissioners~~ or its employees or agents acting on behalf of the town of Littleton may enter upon any land for the purpose of making surveys, test wells or test pits and borings and may take or otherwise acquire the right to occupy temporarily any lands necessary for the construction of any work or for any other purpose authorized by this Act, -provided notice is given and property is restored.

SECTION 11. All land taken or acquired under this act shall be managed, improved and controlled by the board of ~~selectmencommissioners~~ in a manner as they shall consider as in the best interest of Town in the operation of the sewer system.

SECTION 12. The board of ~~selectmencommissioners~~ shall have the benefit, without further acceptance by Littleton town meeting, of the provisions of section 13B of chapter 80 of the general laws and sections 16A to 16E, inclusive, and section 16G of chapter 83 of the general laws. -Applications for abatements in accordance with said section 16E of chapter 83 shall be made to the board of ~~selectmencommissioners~~ within 30 days after the date of the demand.

SECTION 13. In carrying out the provisions of this Act, the town of Littleton shall not discriminate against any person on the grounds of race, color, marital status, physical disability, age, sex, sexual orientation, religion, ancestry or nation origin in any manner prohibited by the laws of the United States, the commonwealth or the town of Littleton.

SECTION 14. Insofar as the provisions of this act are inconsistent with the provisions of any general or special law, administrative order, or regulation, or any by-law, rule, regulation or code of the town, other than rules and regulations or orders of the board of health or by-laws of the town which require homes or facilities to be connected to the Littleton common smart sewer district sewer system involuntarily, the provisions of this act shall be controlling.

SECTION 15. This act shall take effect upon its passage.